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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
c/o U.S. Attorney’s Office

601 D Street, NW

Washington, DC 20530,

Plaintiff,
Civil Action No. 26-cv-807

V.

$2,400,000 in funds on deposit at the U.S.
Treasury, Account No. ****8183,

Defendant.

N N N N N S N N N N N N N N

UNITED STATES’ VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE IN REM

COMES NOW, Plaintiff the United States of America (the “United States”), by and through
the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia, the Money Laundering, Narcotics
and Forfeiture Section of the Criminal Division, and the Counterintelligence and Export Control
Section of the National Security Division, and brings this verified complaint for forfeiture in a
civil action in rem, in accordance with Supplemental Rule G(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, against $2,400,000 on deposit with the U.S. Treasury in New York, NY (“Defendant
Property”), and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND DEFENDANT IN REM

1. This in rem forfeiture action arises out of an investigation of an illicit Iranian oil
distribution network led by Mohammad Hossein SHAMKHANI for sanctions violations, money
laundering, and related federal offenses. Specifically, the United States, including the Homeland
Security Investigations (“HSI”), the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”), and the Internal

Revenue Service, Criminal Investigations (“IRS-CI”), is investigating SHAMKHANI’s
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distribution and sale of petroleum products and other commodities using a network of individuals,
front companies, shipping companies, and financial institutions, including Sea Lead Shipping Pte,
Ltd. (“SEA LEAD”) and its affiliate entity, Sea Lead Shipping Agency India PV (“SEA LEAD
INDIA™). This action seeks to forfeit the Defendant Property, the transfer of which was intended
to promote ongoing violations of U.S. sanctions laws, and which affords SHAMKHANI, SEA
LEAD, and SEA LEAD INDIA a source of influence over entities that have engaged in federal
crimes of terrorism, including the National Iranian Oil Company (“NIOC”) and the Islamic
Revolutionary Guard Corps (“IRGC”), including the IRGC Quds Force (“IRGC-QF”).

2. On July 30, 2025, SHAMKHANI was sanctioned by the Office of Foreign Assets
Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”), which stated that SHAMKHANI is
“the son of Ali Shamkhani, a top political advisor to the Supreme Leader of Iran.”! Ali Shamkhani
was sanctioned by OFAC on January 10, 2020 for his role, at the time, as Secretary of Iran’s
Supreme National Security Council (SNSC) a body which “determines [Iran’s] security and
defense policies and coordinates political, intelligence, social, and economic activities in
accordance with the Supreme Leader’s guidelines.””

3. As part of the July 30, 2025 action, OFAC explained that SHAMKHANTI’s network
“comprises a vast fleet of vessels, ship management firms, and front companies—some posing as

legitimate financial services firms—that launder billions in profits from global sales of Iranian and

Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Takes Massive
Action  Against  High-Profile Iranian  Network (July 30, 2025), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sb0215.

2 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Targets Iran's Billion

Dollar Metals Industry and Senior Regime Officials (Jan. 10, 2020), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm870.
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Russian crude oil and other petroleum products, most often to buyers in China.”® OFAC further
stated that “[t]he network employs significant measures to disguise its operations and obfuscate its
ties to the Shamkhani family, Iran, and Russia.”*

4. The Defendant Property is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 981(a)(1)(A) because it is property that was involved in, and/or is traceable to property that was
involved in a violation of the international money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A),
that occurred when SEA LEAD, SEA LEAD INDIA, and others caused a U.S. financial institution
(“U.S. Bank A”) to facilitate the payment of U.S. dollars for the benefit of sanctioned individuals
and entities of the Islamic Republic of Iran (“Iran”), with the intent to promote a specified unlawful
activity, that is, a violation of the International Emergency Economic Powers Act (“IEEPA”), 50
U.S.C. § 1705.

5. The Defendant Property is also subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 981(a)(1)(G)(1), as assets affording a person a source of influence over an individual, entity, or
organization engaged in planning or perpetrating any federal crime of terrorism (as defined in
section 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)) against the United States, citizens or residents of the United
States, or their property, that is, NIOC, the IRGC, and IRGC-QF.

6. The Defendant Property is approximately $2,400,000 in funds on deposit at the
U.S. Treasury, in account number 00008183 and all funds traceable thereto, including but not
limited to, any interest accrued.

7. The Defendant Property is comprised of two attempted wire transfers:

Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Takes Massive
Action  Against  High-Profile Iranian  Network (July 30, 2025), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sb0215.

4 Id.
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A January 27, 2026 wire transfer for $2,000,000 from SEA LEAD’s account at

Foreign Financial Institution 1 in Singapore to a SEA LEAD account at Foreign

Financial Institution 2 in Singapore. This payment was transferred via U.S

Financial Institution 1 in New York.

A February 2, 2026 wire transfer for $400,000 from SEA LEAD INDIA’s account

at Foreign Financial Institution 3 to a SEA LEAD account at Foreign Financial

Institution 2 in Singapore. This payment was transferred via U.S. Financial

Institution 2 in New York.

8. These payments are summarized in the table below:
Corr. Bank Date Amount Sender Sender Bank Receiver Receiver Bank
. . Sea Lead Foreign Sea Lead . . .
[fﬁss ti‘u‘?:glfl 1127/26 | $2,000,000 | Shipping Pte. Financial Shipping Pte. Foiilsgtﬁi‘iginzml
Ltd. Institution 1 Ltd.
UsS. glelai1 L?:l‘d Foreign Sea Lead Foreign Financial
Financial 212/26 | $400,000 | enfp In%ia Financial Shipping Pte. n Sgti tution 2
Institution 2 & P}\/l Institution 3 Ltd. .
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9.

1355(a).

10.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and

Venue is proper in the District of the District of Colombia pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1355(b)(1)(A) because an act or omission giving rise to the forfeiture occurred in the District of

Columbia. The Defendant Property was seized pursuant to two seizure warrants: the first signed

on or about February 3, 2026, by the Honorable Moxila A. Upadhyaya, 26-sz-008, and the second

signed on or about February 9, 2026 by the Honorable G. Michael Harvey, 26-sz-010. After service

of the warrants on U.S Financial Institution 1 and U.S. Financial Institution 2, respectively, the

Defendant Property was transferred to an account controlled by the U.S. government, where it

remains.
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LEGAL BACKGROUND

11.  IEEPA authorizes the President of the United States to impose economic sanctions
in response to an unusual or extraordinary threat to the national security, foreign policy, or
economy of the United States when the President declares a national emergency with respect to
that threat. Pursuant to the authority under IEEPA, the President and the executive branch have
issued orders and regulations governing and prohibiting certain transactions with Iran by U.S.
persons or involving goods from the United States.

A. SHAMKHANI Designations

12. On January 10, 2020, the President signed Executive Order 13902, which
authorizes the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the Secretary of State, to impose
blocking sanctions on individuals and entities operating in certain sectors of the Iranian economy.
On October 11, 2024, the Secretary of the Treasury determined that individuals and entities
operating in the petroleum and petrochemical sectors of the Iranian economy should be subject to
such sanctions.

13. On July 30, 2025, OFAC designated SHAMKHANI, over 50 individuals and
entities, and more than 50 vessels “that are part of the vast shipping empire controlled by”
SHAMKHANI. > According to OFAC, SHAMKHANI “leverages corruption through his father’s
political influence at the highest levels of the Iranian regime to build and operate a massive fleet
of tankers and containerships. This network transports oil and petroleum products from Iran and
Russia, as well as other cargo, to buyers around the world, generating tens of billions of dollars in

profit.”¢
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14. As aresult of these designations, U.S. persons (including U.S. financial institutions)
are broadly prohibited from engaging in dealings, directly or indirectly, with or for the benefit of
SHAMKHANI.

B. Iranian Transactions and Sanctions Regulations

15. Beginning with Executive Order 12170, issued on November 14, 1979, the
President found that “the situation in Iran constitutes an unusual and extraordinary threat to the
national security, foreign policy and economy of the United States and declare[d] a national
emergency to deal with that threat.”

16. On March 15 and May 6, 1995, the President issued Executive Orders 12957 and
12959, prohibiting, among other things, the exportation, re-exportation, sale, or supply, directly or
indirectly, to Iran of any goods, technology, or services from the United States or by a United
States person, and on August 19, 1997, issued Executive Order 13059 clarifying the previous
orders. These Executive Orders authorized the Secretary of the Treasury to promulgate rules and
regulations necessary to carry out the Executive Orders. Pursuant to this authority, the Secretary
of the Treasury promulgated the Iranian Transactions Regulations (renamed in 2013 the Iranian
Transactions and Sanctions Regulations, or “ITSR”), implementing the sanctions imposed by the
Executive Orders.

17. The ITSR broadly prohibits U.S. persons and individuals or entities otherwise
subject to U.S. jurisdiction from engaging in dealings involving Iran or the Government of Iran,
absent specific or general authorization from OFAC, which is located in the District of Columbia.
Among other restrictions, the ITSR provides that:

a. Any transaction that evades or avoids, has the purpose of evading or
avoiding, causes a violation of, or attempts to violate any of the prohibitions set forth in

this part is prohibited, see 31 C.F.R. § 560.203;
6
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b. The exportation, reexportation, sale, or supply, directly or indirectly, from
the United States, or by a U.S. person, wherever located, of any goods, technology, or
services (including financial services) to Iran or the Government of Iran is prohibited, see
31 C.F.R. § 560.204; and

c. No U.S. person, wherever located, may engage in any transaction or dealing
in or related to: (1) goods or services of Iranian origin or owned or controlled by the
Government of Iran, or (2) goods, technology, or services for exportation, reexportation,
sale or supply, directly or indirectly, to Iran or the Government of Iran, see 31 C.F.R.
§ 560.206.

18. Services of Iranian origin include: (a) services by a person residing in Iran; and (b)
services performed outside Iran by a citizen, national, or permanent resident of Iran who is
ordinarily resident in Iran, or by an entity organized under the laws of Iran or any jurisdiction
within Iran. See 31 C.F.R. § 560.306. The ITSR further provides that the prohibition on the
exportation, reexportation, sale or supply of services contained in 31 C.F.R. § 560.204 applies to
services performed on behalf of a person in Iran or the Government of Iran or where the benefit of
such services is received in Iran, if such services are performed either in the United States, or
outside the United States by an individual or entity subject to U.S. jurisdiction. See 31 C.F.R.

§ 560.410.
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FACTS GIVING RISE TO FORFEITURE

A. Government of Iran

19. On January 19, 1984, the United States designated Iran as a state sponsor of
terrorism.” In 2023, the State Department concluded that “Iran remained the leading state sponsor
of terrorism, facilitating a wide range of terrorist and other illicit activities in the United States and
globally,” and found that “Iranian-aligned militia groups (IAMG) in Iraq and Syria conducted
repeated attacks with unmanned aircraft systems against U.S. forces in the region in attempts to
compel their withdrawal.”® The State Department further found that “Iran used the Islamic
Revolutionary Guard Corps-Qods Force (IRGC-QF) to provide support to terrorist organizations,
provide cover for associated covert operations, and create instability in the region,” and that “[t]he
IRGC-QF is Iran’s primary mechanism for cultivating and supporting terrorist activity abroad.”
10

To date, the United States has not delisted Iran as a state sponsor of terrorism.

B. Iranian Oil Industry

20. Under the constitution of Iran, the Iranian government owns and controls the
petroleum resources of the country. Article 44 provides that the economy of Iran will consist of
three sectors, “state, cooperative, and private,” and the state shall control, own, and administer “all
large-scale and mother industries,” including “foreign trade, major minerals, banking, insurance,

[and] power generation.” Article 45 of the constitution provides, in part, that mineral deposits are

7 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF STATE, Country Reports on Terrorism 2023: available at:
https://www.state.gov/reports/country-reports-on-terrorism-2023.

8 Id.

? 1d.

10 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF STATE, State Sponsors of Terrorism, available at:

https://www.state.gov/state-sponsors-of-terrorism
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part of the “public wealth and property,” which are “at the disposal of the Islamic government for
it to utilize in accordance with the public interest.”
21. Article 2 of Iran’s Oil Law (Sep. 30, 1987) provides:

The country’s oil resources are part of the Anfal and public wealth,
and according to Article 45 of the Constitution, is at the disposal of
the Islamic government, and all facilities, equipment, assets and
investments that have been or will be made by the Ministry of Oil
and subsidiaries at home and abroad will belong to the Iranian
people and to the Islamic government. The exercise of sovereignty
and ownership of oil resources and facilities belongs to the Islamic
Government, which according to the provisions and powers
enumerated in this law, it is the responsibility of the Ministry of Oil
to act in accordance with the general principles and plans of the
country.

1. Ministry of Petroleum

22.  According to the Iranian Ministry of Petroleum’s website, the ministry “is a state-
run organ affiliated with the Executive branch of government” that was established in 1979. The
ministry reports that it “is tasked with exercising the principle of Iran’s ownership of and national
sovereignty over oil and gas resources as well as separating governance from administrative tasks
in the development of oil and gas industry.”

23. The Iranian Ministry of Petroleum (“MOP”) exercises its authority over the
petroleum industry through four subsidiaries: NIOC, the National Iranian Gas Company, the
National Iranian Oil Refining and Distribution Company, and the National Petrochemical
Company. Through these subsidiaries, the MOP “supervises exploration, extraction, marketing and

selling of crude oil, natural gas and petroleum products in the country.”
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24, On October 26, 2020, OFAC designated the MOP under Executive Order 13224 for
providing financial support to the IRGC-QF.!! OFAC found that “[t]he Iranian Ministry of
Petroleum has been used by individuals at the highest levels of the Iranian regime to facilitate the
912

IRGC-QF’s revenue generation scheme.

2. National Iranian Oil Company

25.  Asnoted above, NIOC is the national oil company of Iran and a subsidiary of the
MOP. NIOC describes itself as “one of the largest oil firms in the world with huge hydrocarbon
reserves.” NIOC reports that it is “responsible for organizing and policy-making activities of the
oil industry, including exploration, drilling, production, research and development, as well as oil
and gas exports.”

26. On September 24, 2012, the U.S. Department of the Treasury reported to Congress
that it had determined that NIOC was an agent or affiliate of the IRGC. On October 26, 2020,
OFAC designated NIOC pursuant to Executive Order 13224 “for having materially assisted,
sponsored, or provided financial, material, or technological support for, or goods or services in
support of, the IRGC-QF.”'* OFAC noted that “NIOC, overseen by the Ministry of Petroleum, is

responsible for the exploration, production, refining, and export of oil and petroleum products in

i Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Sanctions Key Actors

in Iran'’s Oil Sector for Supporting Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps-Qods Force, (Oct. 26,
2020), available at: https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm1165.

12 1d.
13 Id.

10
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Iran.”'* According to OFAC, the distribution of NIOC oil “helps to finance Iran’s Islamic

Revolutionary Guard Corps-Qods Force (IRGC-QF) and its terrorist proxies.”!>

3. Persian Gulf Petrochemical Industries Company

27. On June 7, 2019, OFAC took action against Persian Gulf Petrochemical Industries
Company (“PGPIC”) for providing financial support to Khatam al-Anbiya Construction
Headquarters, which OFAC called “the engineering conglomerate of the [IRGC].”!'® At the time,
OFAC identified PGPIC as “Iran’s largest and most profitable petrochemical holding group” with
a group of subsidiary petrochemical companies that held “40 percent of Iran’s total petrochemical
»17

production capacity and are responsible for 50 percent of Iran’s total petrochemical exports.

C. IRGC and IRGC-QF

28. The IRGC is a branch of the Iranian armed forces whose purpose is to defend the
country’s political system. The IRGC-QF is a branch of the IRGC that specializes in
unconventional warfare and military intelligence operations.

29. On October 25, 2007, OFAC designated the IRGC-QF under Executive Order
13224, which is “aimed at freezing the assets of terrorists and their supporters.”'® In part, OFAC

found that “[t]he Qods Force, a branch of the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC; aka

14 Id.

15 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Targets International

Network Supporting Iran’s Petrochemical and Petroleum Industries, (Jan. 23, 2020), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm885.

16 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Sanctions Iran’s

Largest Petrochemical Holding Group and Vast Network of Subsidiaries and Sales Agents, (June
7,2019), available at: https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm703.

17 1d.

18 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Designation of Iranian

Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism (Oct. 25, 2007),
available at: https://2001-2009.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2007/0ct/94193.htm

11
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Iranian Revolutionary Guard Corps), provides material support to the Taliban, Lebanese Hizballah,
Hamas, Palestinian Islamic Jihad, and the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine-General
Command (PFLP-GC).”!” On October 13, 2017, OFAC designated the IRGC pursuant to
Executive Order 13224 for providing material support, including training, personnel, and military
equipment, to the IRGC-QF.?°

30. On April 8, 2019, the President announced that he would designate the IRGC,
including the IRGC-QF, as a Foreign Terrorist Organization under Section 219 of the Immigration
and Nationality Act (“INA”) (8 U.S.C. § 1189). The announcement noted, in part, that “the IRGC
actively participates in, finances, and promotes terrorism as a tool of statecraft,” and warned that
“[i]f you are doing business with the IRGC, you will be bankrolling terrorism.”

31. Also on April 8, 2019, the State Department similarly announced the pending
designation of the IRGC, including the IRGC-QF. That announcement noted that “[TThe IRGC—
most prominently through its Qods Force—has the greatest role among Iran’s actors in directing
and carrying out a global terrorist campaign.” On April 15, 2019, the Secretary of State published
a notice in the Federal Register that he had designated the IRGC, including the IRGC-QF, as a
Foreign Terrorist Organization under Section 219 of the INA.

32. The Department of the Treasury has found “[t]he IRGC is Iran’s most powerful
economic actor, dominating many sectors of the economy, including energy, construction, and

banking.”?! According to OFAC, “[t]he IRGC and its major holdings . . . have a dominant presence

19 1d.

20 Press Release, Treasury Designates the IRGC under Terrorism Authority and

Targets IRGC and Military Supporters under Counter-Proliferation Authority (Oct. 13, 2007),
available at: https:// https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm0177

2 Press Release, Treasury Submits Report To Congress On NIOC And NITC (Sept.
24, 2012), available at: https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/tgl1718

12
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in Iran’s commercial and financial sectors, controlling multi-billion dollar businesses and
maintaining extensive economic interests in the defense, construction, aviation, oil, banking,
metal, automobile and mining industries.”?

33. The IRGC and IRGC-QF use a network of shipping companies and front companies
to hide their involvement in the sale and shipment of Iranian oil. Specifically, OFAC has found
that the IRGC-QF uses a “complex network of intermediaries . . . to obfuscate its involvement in
selling Iranian oil,” and that “[t]he IRGC, long a target of U.S. sanctions, has a history of
attempting to circumvent sanctions by maintaining a complex network of front companies.” The
Secretary of the Treasury has previously found that holding groups and companies in the
petrochemical sector and elsewhere “provide financial lifelines to the IRGC.”

34. On January 23, 2020, OFAC described NIOC as “an entity instrumental in Iran’s
petroleum and petrochemical industries, which helps to finance Iran’s Islamic Revolutionary
Guard Corps-Qods Force (“IRGC-QF”) and its terrorist proxies.”** Iran’s petroleum and
petrochemical industries are major sources of revenue for the Iranian regime and funds its malign
activities throughout the Middle East.”**

35. The IRGC generates substantial revenues from the sale of petroleum products. For

example, OFAC has reported that “[i]n spring 2019 alone, this IRGC-QF-led network employed

2 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Sanctions Iran’s

Largest Petrochemical Holding Group and Vast Network of Subsidiaries and Sales Agents, (June
7,2019), available at: https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm703.

23 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Submits Report To

Congress On NIOC  And  NITC (Sept. 24, 2012), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/tg1 718

2 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Targets International

Network Supporting Iran’s Petrochemical and Petroleum Industries, (Jan. 23, 2020), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm885.

2 1d.

13
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more than a dozen vessels to transport nearly 10 million barrels of crude oil, predominantly to the
Syrian regime. These shipments, taken collectively, sold for more than half a billion dollars. The
same network also sold nearly four million barrels of condensate and hundreds of thousands of
barrels [of] gas oil, bringing in another quarter billion dollars.”?®

36. OFAC has stated that crude oil and condensate sold by the IRGC-QF originates
with NIOC, and that the IRGC-QF relies on people embedded within the shipping industry to keep
this oil moving by ensuring that vessel insurance and registration are in order, among other things.
Furthermore, National Iranian Tanker Company (“NITC”) vessels have been used in IRGC-QF-
run operations.>’

37. The IRGC uses the proceeds from the distribution of petroleum products to fund its
terror activities. OFAC has found that “Iran’s petroleum and petrochemical industries are major
sources of revenue for the Iranian regime and funds its malign activities throughout the Middle
East,” and that “[t]he profits from [the IRGC’s economic] activities support the IRGC’s full range
of nefarious activities, including the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction (WMD) and
their means of delivery, support for terrorism, and a variety of human rights abuses, at home and
abroad.”?® The Secretary of the Treasury has stated: “Iran’s petrochemical and petroleum sectors

are primary sources of funding for the Iranian regime’s global terrorist activities and enable its

persistent use of violence against its own people.”

26 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Designates Vast

Iranian Petroleum Shipping Network That Supports IRGC-QF and Terror Proxies, (Sept. 4,2019),
available at: https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm767.

27 1d.

28 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Targets International

Network Supporting Iran’s Petrochemical and Petroleum Industries, (Jan. 23, 2020), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm885.

14
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38. Connections between Iran’s petroleum sector and the IRGC-QF’s terrorist activities
remain strong. For example, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement
Network (“FinCEN”) stated in June 2025 that “Iran’s oil and petroleum exports remain a major
source of revenue for the regime, and the main source of revenue for its armed forces and terrorist
partners and proxies. Most of Iran’s oil is sold by [NIOC], which is responsible for the exploration,
refining, and export of oil and petroleum products in Iran.”?° FinCEN’s June 2025 public advisory
stated that “Iran’s budget allots billions of dollars’ worth of Iranian oil to Iran’s Ministry of Defense
and Armed Forces Logistics (“MODAFL”), the Iranian Armed Forces General Staff (“AFGS”),
and the [IRGC-QF] for sale on the international market in order to supplement their budgets,” and
that the IRGC-QF works “in conjunction with terrorist partner and proxy groups such as the
Houthis and Hizaballah [to] smuggle oil to international buyers and use the proceeds to fund
weapons development and terrorist activity in the region.”*® FinCEN advised that Iran “typically
uses a fleet of old and poorly maintained vessels sometimes referred to as the ‘shadow fleet,” ‘ghost
fleet,” or ‘dark fleet’” to conduct these transactions, and that these vessels “are often owned and
managed by operating or shipping companies in countries outside Iran, mostly in the United Arab
Emirates (“UAE”) or Southeast Asia.”! Iranian-linked “front companies operating in countries
outside Iran ... lease vessels to hide [the Iranian regime’s] involvement and to make payments for

services required by ships during their voyages, like bunkering, supplies, insurance, and short-term

2 FinCEN Advisory, FINANCIAL CRIMES ENFORCEMENT NETWORK, FinCEN
Advisory on the Iranian Regime’s Illicit Oil Smuggling Activities, Shadow Banking Networks,
and Weapons Procurement Efforts, (June 6, 2025), available at:
https://www.fincen.gov/system/files/FinCEN-Advisory-Illicit-Oil-Smuggling-508.pdf (footnotes
omitted).

30 1d.
31 Id.

15
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financing.”? These vessels “may undergo frequent name changes, changes in nominal ownership,
or frequent reflagging in different third-country jurisdictions to disguise their illicit activity.”*

D. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK

39.  For more than a decade, SHAMKHANI has operated a network of companies and
individuals (the “SHAMKHANI NETWORK”) engaged in international shipping of various
goods, including Iranian-origin petroleum, as well as other businesses related to the shipping
industry.

40. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK operates with knowledge of, and in violation of,
U.S. sanctions that apply to Iranian persons, the Government of Iran, and products of Iranian
origin.

41. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK deals with NIOC, including by sourcing products
from NIOC directly or indirectly. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK also deals with other suppliers
in Iran, who—given the structure of Iran’s petroleum-products industry—Ilikely also do business
with NIOC, the Iranian Ministry of Petroleum, or other actors associated with the Iranian
government.

42. SHAMKHANI and his associates employ a significant number of support staff in
Iran, generate revenue for businesses owned and controlled by the Government of Iran, and operate
the companies in the SHAMKHANI NETWORK for the benefit of Iran.

43.  Businesses in the SHAMKHANI NETWORK engage in billions of dollars in

transactions every year. A substantial portion of those transactions are conducted in U.S. dollars.

32 1d.
33 Id.

16
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44. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK uses services provided by U.S. persons, including
U.S.-based correspondent banking services, in violation of U.S. sanctions laws.

45, In order to avoid U.S. sanctions, sanctions regimes of other countries, and
compliance checks of banks and other service providers, the SHAMKHANI NETWORK uses
front companies, nominee ultimate beneficial owners fraudulent representations, and other
methods to obfuscate the illicit nature of the SHAMKHANI NETWORK.

E. SHAMKHANI NETWORK STRUCTURE

46.  The SHAMKHANI NETWORK is involved in several business ventures relating
to the oil and petroleum industry and international maritime shipping. These business ventures
include commodities trading (usually but not exclusively oil and petroleum products), shipping
and vessel management (mainly for oil and petroleum products but also involving agricultural
products and other freight), financial services (such as trading in commodities derivatives, both to
hedge the network’s activities and for profit), and administration of his other businesses.

47. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK operates through a network of shell companies
that are distinct legal entities that appear on the surface to be unrelated but that, in practice, act in
a coordinated manner to benefit the SHAMKHANI NETWORK as a whole. SHAMKHANI
NETWORK companies are typically owned and managed by nominal, sham UBOs to obfuscate
connections between SHAMKHANI and each company and its UBO or UBOs. Associates of the
SHAMKHANI NETWORK change network companies’ UBOs as needed to maintain the illusion
of separation from the network. The network companies generally observe varying degrees of
corporate formalities to maintain the veneer of legitimacy.

48. SHAMKHANI NETWORK companies often have a Board of Directors comprised
of nominees who are presented to the public, customers, financial institutions, governments, and

others as managing the SHAMKHANI NETWORK company. However, a “true” Board of
17
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Directors comprised of close SHAMKHANI associates, often including SHAMKHANI himself,
actually makes key decisions for the SHAMKHANI NETWORK companies.

49.  For example, MILAVOUS GROUP LTD a/k/a MALVYN GROUP HOLDING
LTD (“MILAVOUS” or “MALVYN”) is a UAE-based company that the SHAMKHANI
NETWORK uses as a de facto corporate holding or management company for many of the
SHAMKHANI NETWORK’s associated businesses. Through MALVYN, SHAMKHANI has
employed dozens of trusted associates, in Iran, UAE, and elsewhere, and has entrusted them with
managing and maintaining his shipping empire. SHAMKHANI migrated many of the functions of
MALVYN to MILAVOUS in or about 2023. MILAVOUS was designated by OFAC on July 30,
2025 for its role as an “important component in [SHAMKHANI’s] network, assisting
[SHAMKHANI] in arranging sales of Iranian oil and gas and laundering the proceeds.””**

50.  Another brand and shell company used in the SHAMKHANI NETWORK is MAX
ENERGY FUEL TRADING L.L.C. (“MAX ENERGY?”). It was designated by OFAC on July 30,
2025, for having been “involved in transporting oil and laundering the funds for the network.”>
SHAMKHANI has used the brand “MAX ENERGY” for several businesses in his network,
primarily those involved with trading oil and gas. SHAMKHANI has used MALVYN and MAX
ENERGY in tandem through the years, giving trusted associates roles with both companies.
Generally, SHAMKHANTI and his associates used MALVYN to manage corporate operations and

MAX ENERGY to engage in the trading business key to his network. In or about 2020,

SHAMKHANI believed that the MAX ENERGY brand had become too closely associated with

M Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Takes Massive Action

Against  High-Profile  Iranian = Network,  (July 30,  2025), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sb0215.

33 Id.
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Iran, and so he migrated MAX ENERGY trading operations to Nest Wise Petroleum LLC (“NEST
WISE”).

51. NEST WISE, which was designated by OFAC on July 30, 2025, occupied “a similar
role to [MILAVOUS], maintaining the appearance of a legitimate trader of oil and gas, while in
reality managing much of the network’s purchases of Iranian and Russian oil and gas and their
subsequent shipment and sale to overseas buyers,” according to OFAC.*® NEST WISE has
conducted several billions of dollars’ worth of trades in Iranian and Russian oil, with a large
proportion of those trades conducted in U.S. dollars through U.S. financial institutions.

52.  Inits July 30 action, OFAC also designated several shipping companies connected
to the SHAMKHANI NETWORK, including DRACO BUREN SHIPPING PTE. LTD. (“DRACO
BUREN?”), which OFAC described as “one of the myriad shipping companies created to manage
the Hossein network’s fleet, managing 21 vessels at its peak for Hossein’s network, including both
containerships and crude oil tankers.”*” Another shipping company sanctioned in that action was
KOBAN SHIPPING L.L.C. (“KOBAN”), which OFAC asserted has “played important roles in
the management and operation of the network’s fleet of tankers and containerships.”®

53.  OFAC also designated MAIRIN SHIP MANAGEMENT AND CONSULTANCY
DMCC a/k/a HELMATIC CONSULTANCY, a/k/a MARVISE (“MAIRIN”) a UAE-based

company connected to SHAMKHANI. According to OFAC, MAIRIN “provides management

services to many of [SHAMKHANTI’s] shipping firms and secretly controls a fleet of dozens of

36 Id.
37 Id.
38 Id.
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vessels that publicly appear to be owned by multiple other companies transporting crude oil and
liquified petroleum gas for Iran.”>’

54. In that same action, OFAC designated vessels as property related to these shipping
companies, including the following vessels: Ace (IMO: 9228538), Ale (IMO: 9303754), Bertie
(IMO: 9241487), Bigli (IMO: 9307047), Hakuna Matata (IMO: 9354167), Lidia (IMO: 9330501),
Moana (IMO: 9292151), Pinocchio (IMO: 9400112), Pumba (IMO: 9302566), Rantanplan (IMO:
9307023), Simba (IMO: 9719862), Star (IMO: 9436484), Tex (IMO: 9246322), Timon (IMO:
9415844), Yogi (IMO: 9307009), and Zagor (IMO: 9313242).4°

F. The Exchange House
55. To avoid U.S. sanctions, the SHAMKHANI NETWORK uses dozens of shell
companies to obfuscate that it is trafficking in sanctioned Iranian or Russian oil. SHAMKHANI

99 ¢

organizes companies and vessels into color-coded categories—“green,” “gray,” and “black”—
corresponding to their level of risk, or perceived closeness to Iran and Iranian goods.

56.  Entities and vessels that are directly connected to Iran are assigned the “black”
category. “Black™ companies are intended to be viewed “as an island” and are instructed not to use
certain unsecure email systems.

57.  Entities and vessels that are involved with cargo and vessels that originate from or
enter risky zones are categorized as “Gray.” “Gray” companies are not required to have a strict
compliance system and are instructed only to do a “soft” know-your-customer (“KYC”) check of

counterparties. These companies are required to have “clean” internal accounting records and are

instructed to use “B Tier” audit firms. “Gray” companies are instructed not to use email

39 Id.
40 Id.
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communication providers based in the United States. “Gray” companies act as a buffer layer
between “black” and “green” companies, with more than one “gray” company being used at times
to create additional legal and reputational distance.

58. Entities and vessels with the fewest links to Iran are categorized as “green.”
“Green” companies are required to have nominee shareholders who can pass KYC checks by
counterparties and banks. “Green” companies are also required to have “clean” internal accounting
records such that they can be audited by a reputable audit firm. The purpose of “green” companies
is to allow the SHAMKHANI NETWORK to operate in the open as much as possible to avail
itself of the legitimate international banking, shipping, trading and other networks. The
SHAMKHANI NETWORK uses green companies to disguise the source of the SHAMKHANI
NETWORK’s products and maintain a veneer of legitimacy. “Green” companies, such as SEA
LEAD and SEA LEAD INDIA, perform an important role in the continued financial and
operational success of the SHAMKHANI NETWORK.

59. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK employs a group of loyal and trusted employees
and associates who work at many different SHAMKHANI NETWORK companies. Given this
overlap of personnel, the SHAMKHANI NETWORK enforces a strict discipline with regard to
email communications, instructing its people not to use their “green” company email to conduct
business for “gray” or “black” layer companies.

60. The SHAMKHANI NETWORK trades sanctioned products on paper through these
layers to disguise the products’ origin (and the SHAMKHANI NETWORK'’s overall connections

2"

to Iran), in what the network calls the “exchange house.” This involves creating a “record” of
trading for an illicit shipment. A given shipment of Iranian or Russian oil is sold, according to

falsified documents, from a “black” layer company to one or more “gray” layer companies, and
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then to one or more “green” layer companies before being sold to end customers, which are often
legitimate market actors. All along this “trading chain,” SHAMKHANI NETWORK employees
create and use falsified documents and make fraudulent representations to banks and
counterparties to facilitate the movement of money and illegal products.

G. SEA LEAD and SEA LEAD INDIA

61. SEA LEAD is a private company that was organized in Singapore in 2017. SEA
LEAD has several affiliates including Sea Lead Shipping DMCC, which was organized in UAE,
and SEA LEAD INDIA, which was organized in India. These entities are all part of the
SHAMKHANI NETWORK. They are used as part of SHAMKHANTI’s shipping business under
the brand umbrellas of ADMIRAL or HOUSE OF SHIPPING.

62. SHAMKHANI has operated ADMIRAL, a multi-line shipping and petrochemical
products trading conglomerate, since approximately 2014. As ADMIRAL has grown over the past
decade, SHAMKHANI has expanded and developed his business lines, while always keeping the
new companies and endeavors under the ADMIRAL umbrella in practice, even if not officially.
Although ADMIRAL is engaged in a wide range of business activities, the primary business has
always involved trade with Iran, usually in oil and gas or petrochemical products. SHAMKHANI
considers ADMIRAL, and all companies under its umbrella, to exist and operate for the benefit of
Iran and the Iranian government.

63. Throughout that time, SHAMKHANI has entrusted his brother, ABOLFAZL
SHAMKHANTI a/k/a HASSAN SHAMKHANI a/k/a SAMI HAYEK (“HASSAN”), with running

important parts of ADMIRAL. Like his brother, HASSAN is an Iranian national.
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64. For example, a 2015 article from the EXIM India Newsletter, a shipping industry

publication, showed ABOLFAZL (using the name HASSAN) as the CEO of ADMIRAL

FEEDERS:
Vol. XXV No. 150 MUMBAI: Wednesday, August 12, 2015 T 1100
E-mail: newsmumbai@exim-india.com @ infomumbai@exim-india.com
-
Surike ot GT) V. e AMiral Feeders holds
ca o A . -
ximNewsservice || 2 S Admiral ¢rade meet in Mumbai
NAVI MUMBAI, Aug. 11 Exim News Service ‘ :
THE RTG operators MUMBALI Aug. 1 B |l —— :
stir at APM Terminals DMIRAL Feeders, UAE or- |8
Mumbai (GTI), which was ganised an interactive trade
on for more than a week, meet in Mumbai recently.
has been called off, it is The senior management team ““;.l\\:(‘.‘:l.:l
learnt of Admiral Feeders, represented Indaa Sub Conesment
This follows a late af- by Mr Hossein Shamkhani, CEO
ternoon meeting of the of Admiral Group, Mr Hassan
main stakcholders on Shamkhani, CEO of Admi-
Tuesday. Further details ral Feeders and Mr P. Koruh
are awaited. Roy, Director - Commercial and
Normal operations are Business Development, held At the event are (fom left) Mr Hossein Shamkhani, CEO of Admiral
st o rsumo shortly: T T g e O AT 1

Front page of the Aug. 12, 2015 EXIM India Newsletter

65. SHAMKHANI and his brother used SEA LEAD to maintain a feedering “brand”
that was not publicly perceived to be affiliated with SHAMKHANI or Iran. “Feedering” is a
process in maritime shipping where smaller ships, known as “feeders” transport containers or
petroleum products between smaller, regional ports, or to larger vessels that aggregate the
shipments and transport them greater distances. SHAMKHANI, HASSAN, and their co-
conspirators planned to, and did, use SEA LEAD to conduct seemingly legitimate trades of oil

sourced from Iran and generally to benefit the NETWORK, which benefitted Iran.

23



Case 1:26-cv-00807-JMC  Document 1 Filed 03/06/26 Page 24 of 29

66. SHAMKHANI maintained a hand-drawn organizational chart, from in or about
June 2018, showing SEA LEAD situated in the corporate structure of the SHAMKHANI
NETWORK. As shown below, the drawings indicate that SHAMKHANI considered ADMIRAL
as the Iranian side of the feeder business, while he intended to transfer the non-Iranian business to
Sea Lead. As demonstrated by this chart, SHAMKHANI thought of ADMIRAL feeders and SEA

LEAD as linked, despite their separate brands:

67. This separation in brands was designed to evade sanctions. Despite the nominal
differences, the companies stayed under the same umbrella of the SHAMKHANI NETWORK,
and continued to be run by SHAMKHANI and his brother HASSAN, who directed the activities
of the entities from the ADMIRAL and HOUSE OF SHIPPING brands, among others.

68. Beyond being run by the SHAMKHANI brothers, the SEA LEAD entities have
numerous connections to the network. At its founding, SEA LEAD was purportedly majority

owned by Jaideep Saigal, an individual who has been the nominal owner of DRACO BUREN, a
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SHAMKHANI shipping entity sanctioned in July 2025, and an executive at MARSHAL
SHIPPING LLC, a SHAMKHANI NETWORK ship management company that was sanctioned
by OFAC on February 6, 2025.4!

69. Over several years, SEA LEAD changed ownership to a corporate fund structure in
an attempt to further hide its connection to SHAMKHANI and Iran. Despite this nominal change,
SHAMKHANI, HASSAN, and other key SHAMKHANI NETWORK personnel continued to
exercise control over the various SEA LEAD entities.

70. SEA LEAD’s business is intertwined with several other SHAMKHANI
NETWORK companies including DRACO BUREN, a shipping company that was sanctioned by
OFAC in July 2025, and MAIRIN, a ship management company that was sanctioned by OFAC in
July 2025 and which operates as a fleet manager for the SHAMKHANI NETWORK. A significant
amount of SEA LEAD’s business is done in conjunction with DRACO BUREN and MAIRIN.

71.  Indeed, when OFAC conducted its July 2025 round of sanctions, a significant
portion of the fleet of vessels that SEA LEAD owned and/or operated was sanctioned, including
the Ace, Ale, Bertie, Bigli, Hakuna Matata, Lidia, Moana, Pinocchio, Pumba, Rantanplan, Simba,
Star, Tex, Timon, Yogi, and Zagor. Public reporting indicates that the sanctions compromised 36%
of SEA LEAD’s vessel capacity.

72. Since the sanctions, SEA LEAD has publicly stated that it no longer conducts
business with DRACO BUREN. These statements are pro forma denunciations that do not address

the many, on-going connections to the SHAMKHANI NETWORK.

4 Press Release, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Treasury Targets Oil Network
Generating Hundreds of Millions of Dollars for Iran’s Military, (Feb. 6, 2025), available at:
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sb0015.

25



Case 1:26-cv-00807-JMC  Document 1 Filed 03/06/26 Page 26 of 29

73. Had they been successful, the two transfers that comprise the Defendant Property
would have moved U.S. dollars between accounts controlled by SEA LEAD and SEA LEAD
INDIA, sustaining their ability to further their important role in the SHAMKHANI NETWORK.

COUNT ONE - FORFEITURE
(Against Defendant Property; 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A))

74. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1
through 73 above as if fully set forth herein.

75. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A), any property, real or personal, involved in a
transaction or attempted transaction in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A) or any property
traceable to such property is subject to forfeiture to the United States.

76. SHAMKHANI, SEA LEAD, SEA LEAD INDIA, and their associates caused or
intended to cause the transportation, transmission, or transfer of funds from a place in the United
States to or through a place outside the United States and/or from a place outside the United States
to or through a place in the United States with the intent to promote the carrying on of “specified
unlawful activity,” to wit: violation of section 206 (relating to penalties) of the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act (50 U.S.C. § 1705), as specified in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)(D).

77. The Defendant Property is property involved in transactions or attempted
transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A), or is property traceable to such property,
and, therefore, are subject to forfeiture to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A).

COUNT TWO - FORFEITURE
(Against Defendant Property; 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(G)(i))

78.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1
through 73 above as if fully set forth herein
79.  As noted above, the IRGC and IRGC-QF are foreign terrorist organizations

designated as such by the State Department under INA Section 219, 8 U.S.C. § 1189.
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80. The IRGC and IRGC-QF have committed numerous terrorism-related offenses
identified in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5), including the killing and attempts to kill U.S. personnel
proscribed by 18 U.S.C. § 1114.

81. NIOC has engaged in a Federal crime of terrorism, that is “having materially
assisted, sponsored, or provided financial, material, or technological support for, or goods or
services in support of, the IRGC-QF,” as found in Executive Order 13224 (October 26, 2020).

82. The Defendant Property represents funds available to support the operation of the
SHAMKHANI NETWORK'’s distribution of products obtained by the SHAMKHANI
NETWORK from NIOC, which gives SHAMKHANI, and other persons involved in the
SHAMKHANI NETWORK a source of influence over NIOC and the IRGC, including IRGC-QF,
within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(G)(1).

83. The Defendant Funds are subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
981(a)(1)(G)(1), as assets that afford any person a source of influence over any entity or
organization engaged in planning or perpetrating any Federal crime of terrorism as defined in 18
U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5) against the United States, U.S. citizens or residents, or their property.

84.  WHEREFORE, the plaintiff prays that all persons who reasonably appear to be
potential claimants with interests in the Defendant Property be cited to appear herein and answer
the complaint; that the Defendant Property be forfeited and condemned to the United States of
America; that upon Final Decree of Forfeiture, the United States Marshal dispose of the Defendant
Property according to law; and that the plaintiff have such other and further relief as this Court

deems proper and just.
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VERIFICATION

I, Cindy Burnham, a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, declare under
penalty of perjury, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, that the foregoing Verified Complaint for
Forfeiture /n Rem is based upon reports and information known to me and/or furnished to me by
other law enforcement representatives and that everything represented herein is true and correct.

Executed on this 6th day of March, 2026.
N
é&np{ /Z 51.41:.41“,

Special Agent Cindy Burnham
Federal Bureau of Investigation

I, Benjamin Brown, a Special Agent with the Homeland Security Investigations, declare
under penalty of perjury, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, that the foregoing Verified Complaint for
Forfeiture /n Rem is based upon reports and information known to me and/or furnished to me by
other law enforcement representatives and that everything represented herein is true and correct.

Executed on this 6th day of March, 2026.

Lo

Special Agent Benjamin Brown
Homeland Security Investigations
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The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papersasrequired
by law, exceptasprovided by local rules of court. This form,approved by the Judicial Conference of the United Statesin September 1974, is required for the use of the
Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docketsheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed.
Listed below are tips for completing the civil coversheet. These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals on the cover sheet.

L COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF/DEFENDANT (b) County ofresidence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiffif resident
of Washington, DC, 88888 if plaintiffis resident of United Statesbutnot Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States.

II1. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES: This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis of Jurisdiction
under Section II.

Iv. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: The assignment of a judge to your case will depend on the category you select that best
represents the primary cause of action found in your complaint. You may select only one category. You must also select one corresponding
nature of suit found underthe category ofthe case.

VI CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statuteunderwhich you are filing and write a brief statement of the primary cause.

VIII. RELATED CASE(S), IF ANY: Ifyou indicated thatthereis a related case, you must complete a related case form, which may be obtained from
the Clerk’s Office.

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided prior to signing the form.





